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  DEDICATION

  This book is dedicated to the memory of Judson Knight

  and to the scouts of the United States Army,

  Men of Daring, Cunning, and Courage


  Foreword:

  “A Knight’s Tale”

  WILLIAM B. FEIS

  Author of Grant’s Secret Service: The Intelligence War from Belmont to Appomattox

  AT THE END of the Civil War, Union General Philip H. Sheridan acknowledged the critical role his scouts played in the final campaigns when he thanked them for “cheerfully going wherever ordered, to obtain that great essential of success, information.”1 And his praise was not misdirected since he and most good commanders knew instinctively that, as nineteenth-century military theorist Antoine Henri-Jomini observed, intelligence gathering was an undertaking “unquestionably of the highest importance.” But Jomini also cautioned that procuring good information on the enemy was also “a thing of the utmost difficulty, not to say impossibility.”2 Though Sheridan certainly appreciated the contributions of his intelligence operatives and understood the innumerable difficulties and dangers they encountered trying to keep him informed, few inside or outside the army knew much at all about the intrepid men and women who sacrificed in the shadows for the Union cause.

  Even today the true nature of Civil War military intelligence remains overshadowed by the overly romanticized tales spun by Confederate spies Rose O’Neal Greenhow and Belle Boyd, and their Union counterparts Allan Pinkerton and Lafayette C. Baker. Their truth-challenged and blatantly self-promoting narratives stole the postwar limelight far more effectively than they absconded with enemy secrets. “These tall tales,” wrote intelligence historian Edwin C. Fishel, “have been reworked again and again by ‘popular’ biographers and historians until they have long since hardened into a mythology,” or what he called the “magnolia blossom school” of Civil War intelligence.3

  In addition to the romantic haze enshrouding the literature, Civil War military intelligence operations also remain difficult to decipher because they were predominantly ad hoc affairs conducted with little precise record-keeping. Most commanders instinctively understood the need for information because, as Maj. Gen. Daniel Butterfield so eloquently put it, Union armies could not “go boggling around until we know what we are going after.”4 But no official manual or “do it yourself” guide existed telling how to find information while on campaign or how to use it once you found it. Complicating this inexperience, commanders also had access to a wide array of potential information sources, which could be both good and bad since too much information could be as confounding and bewildering as too little. As a result, most Civil War officers—even those with a West Point pedigree—learned the intelligence “business” on the job and pretty much made it up as they went along. Unfortunately, this also meant officers came to rely heavily upon their equally inexperienced information-gatherers to do their job well.

  The most important of these operatives—and the unsung workhorse of military intelligence operations—was the army scout. Usually a civilian or a volunteer from the ranks, these intrepid individuals ventured into no-man’s-land seeking information on the enemy, returning (hopefully) to their commander/employer with firsthand observations, local rumors, enemy newspapers, captured mail, and reports on terrain, road networks, railroad traffic, troop deployments, and enemy morale. However, like many soldiers in the ranks, most scouts were military neophytes unschooled in warfare, combat operations, or army organization. This meant the ability to distinguish between a company and a division marching along a road, to effectively sort the signals from the noise, and to escape detection, time and again, would only come (if it did at all) while on the job. The knowledge that a hangman’s noose awaited those unlucky enough to be captured, however, made becoming a quick study imperative.

  Though most scouts probably served ably and well, employing them could pose unique challenges for information-hungry commanders. For example, the fact that an operative’s pay depended upon the perceived value of the information brought in opened the process to abuse by individuals looking to scam the army for financial gain. Tall tales and outright lies, often extremely difficult to corroborate, could bring substantial remuneration if a dishonest scout could convince a commander they were true. Unfortunately, this sort of exploitation by a few miscreants only deepened suspicions of all scouts. “As a general thing,” complained one observer, “scouts are perfectly worthless. They are usually plausible fellows who go out [just past] the picket line and lie on the ground all night under a tree, and come back to headquarters in the morning and lie there, giving wonderful reports about the enemy, fearing no contradiction.”5 [emphasis in original] What a Congressman once said of Lafayette C. Baker, head of the War Department’s National Detective Police, probably reflected more general suspicions aimed at anyone involved in secret service. “[I]t is doubtful,” he wrote, “whether he has in any one thing told the truth, even by accident.”6 The very nature of Civil War scouting, therefore, could sow far more uncertainty than it dispelled. The antidote was to employ reliable individuals who were familiar with military organizations and operations, willing to risk death if captured, and driven by more pure motives than mere pecuniary gain. Enticed by the chance to escape the drudgery of camp and drill field but otherwise deeply committed to the Union cause, soldiers from the ranks often fit this bill rather well.

  One of these recruits was Judson Knight, a New York native who enlisted in the Second New Jersey Volunteer Infantry in May 1861 and became a Union scout for Brig. Gen. Philip Kearny later that summer. A veteran of the Peninsula Campaign, the Seven Days, Second Bull Run, and Antietam, Knight fell ill after the fighting in Maryland and was discharged from the service at year’s end. Recovered by fall of 1863, Knight embarked upon what would be an extraordinarily productive career as a civilian scout, rising to the position of “chief of scouts” for the Army of the Potomac’s intelligence arm, the Bureau of Military Information (BMI) headed by Col. George H. Sharpe. He participated in the 1864 Overland Campaign and settled in to scout for the Union armies besieging Richmond and Petersburg until Appomattox closed out his career.

  When the shooting stopped, Knight picked up a pen and recounted his exploits in a series of articles published in The National Tribune, a postwar veterans’ periodical and forerunner of the Stars and Stripes. For example, his first installment set the tone for the remainder when he dealt with the question: “How did you get inside of the enemy’s lines, and travel around there and get information, without being arrested?” His answer provided a rare view into the workings of Sharpe’s BMI while on campaign. As with many of these postwar accounts, however, over time Knight’s reminiscences slipped from view. Thanks to Peter G. Tsouras, an accomplished historian and well-known author of a series of excellent counterfactual histories, Knight’s tale has been given new life. A labor of love, Tsouras collected and edited Knight’s National Tribune articles and spent years digging deeply into the BMI records at the National Archives in order to document and substantiate—as much as possible—the people, places, and events described by the former scout. This painstaking process entailed poring over hundreds of handwritten letters, reports, telegrams, and pay vouchers as well as mining a multitude of other mundane sources to piece together a puzzle with many missing pieces. Though Knight was undoubtedly a trustworthy fellow (Sharpe certainly thought so), the passage of time, the willful forgetting of unpleasant recollections or embarrassing blunders, and the desire to “puff” oneself for history, a common affliction of many postwar memoirists, could blur and distort memories until they eventually hardened into truth. Postwar memoirs written by secret operatives, moreover, pose even greater challenges since much of their business was done in secret and with minimal paper trails, making reliance on the shifting ground of memory a necessary evil. Believing in the adage “trust but verify,” Tsouras’s archival labors, judicious editing, and eye for detail uncovers where Knight crossed the line separating fact from fiction. This meticulous detective work gives texture, legitimacy, and greater historical value to the scout’s recollections and for that we owe Tsouras a great debt.

  Unfortunately, many of the writings of former scouts and spies of the Blue and Gray have not undergone similar treatment, which is why 150 years later the Civil War’s intelligence story remains cloaked in mystery and misunderstanding. For various reasons, in the decades after Appomattox the vast majority of those employed in “secret service” maintained the silence and discretion they had so carefully cultivated during the war, even as countless other veterans (and a few marquee spies) put pen to paper to feed the reading public’s voracious appetite for war stories. Without their voices, the overly romanticized “cloak and dagger” potboilers written to sell books or to salvage postwar reputations became the benchmark for writings on the intelligence war.

  All this is what makes Judson Knight’s edited recollections such an important contribution to Civil War intelligence history. Not only was Knight a rarity in that he shared his exploits in public, but he also had much of importance to say, having been a senior scout with the Army of the Potomac during the most critical campaigns of the war.

  We owe a great debt to Peter Tsouras for retrieving one of the most important scouts of the war from obscurity and breathing life into his experiences for a modern audience. In the end, Knight’s narrative grabs the reader with anecdotes of thrilling exploits and, thanks to Tsouras’s editing skill and well-placed commentary, sheds light on the real nature of the intelligence “business” in the Civil War as told by one of its foremost practitioners who “cheerfully” waded into the dark and dangerous shadows “to obtain that great essential of success.”7


  Introduction

  HISTORICAL RESEARCH ALL too often resembles diamond mining. Great effort is needed to sift through vast amounts of material to find a few gems. Happily, the source of this book was a rich vein lying just under the surface in the Library of Congress Newspapers and Periodicals Reading Room among the microfilm rolls of newspapers and records.

  The National Tribune lay there quietly, not much disturbed by other miners of history, all but forgotten. This weekly publication was the ancestor of the Stars and Stripes, the service newspaper of the United States Armed Forces, founded in 1877 “to secure to soldiers and sailors their rights …”

  
    Later the Tribune became known for its regular feature, “Fighting Them Over: What Our Veterans Have to Say About Their Old Campaigns,” which solicited memoirs from veterans of all ranks and backgrounds. This column established the National Tribune as a forum for discussion, debate, and reminiscence for veterans around the country, eventually becoming the official paper of the Grand Army of the Republic.8

  

  This feature is a practically unknown treasure trove of firsthand accounts of America’s bloodiest war, the struggle that defined the United States as a nation. Within this trove are the serialized reminiscences of the Chief Scout of the Army of the Potomac, Judson Knight, in the “Fighting Them Over Again” feature, which this book presents for the first time.
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  “Fighting Them Over: What Our Veterans Have to Say About Their Old Campaigns,” the regular feature of the National Tribune which solicited firsthand accounts from veterans. Cartoon from the National Tribune.

  These reminiscences are unique for a number of reasons. Firsthand accounts by scouts of the North and South are rare, and none are from such a senior member of this select and shadowy fraternity. The closest are the reminiscences of John Landegon, Chief Scout to Sheridan while commanding the Cavalry Corps of the Army of the Potomac, but they are far briefer in length and time covered. Those portions where he served with Knight have been incorporated into this account.9 Although Knight served as Chief Scout from August 1864 to June 1865, he includes earlier accounts of his adventures and experiences under the redoubtable first Chief Scout, Sgt. Milton Cline (February 1863 to August 1864).

  Knight’s reminiscences are also noteworthy for how well they were written. The style is personal and almost conversational and still easily accessible to the modern reader. Although on a number of occasions Knight describes his direct contact with Generals Meade and Grant, Assistant Secretary of War Charles Dana, his own chief, Col. George H. Sharpe, and a number of other general officers, his reminiscences are those of the day-to-day life and activities of a scout. What you discover is a continuing narration of scouting tradecraft. Nevertheless, his interactions with general officers often either present new information or confirm other accounts, but from another perspective.

  Knight’s reminiscences, thirty years after the fact, are remarkably accurate where accounts, dates, persons, and military units can be verified. It is this editor’s experience in studying the scouts of the Civil War and working with their modern counterparts that the best of them have both remarkable powers of observation as well as retention, characteristics Knight clearly shows. Almost every instance where Knight refers to officers and units being at a particular place and at a particular time, the historical record proves him correct. He also had a remarkable range of acquaintances with both fellow enlisted men and units, as well as officers, allowing him to provide personal narratives that are colorful, to say the least.

  Knight’s accounts of his operations behind Confederate lines are also important for their glimpses into themes not much touched on in most Civil War literature. One of the most interesting themes is his repeated encounters with slaves and white women alone on their farms. Much of the Confederate countryside was empty of adult males of military age. Knight was clearly confident that he could rely on slaves to either overtly help him or at the very least not betray his presence. Both Knight and Col. George H. Sharpe, for whom Knight worked, made clear statements that they never heard an account of a slave betraying a Union soldier behind the lines.

  Another element of the white Confederate population with whom he came into contact were Union loyalists, many of whom were prewar immigrants from the North or Great Britain or former non-commissioned officers in the regular army. Not a few loyalists were native-born southerners who would not sever their devotion to the “Old Flag.” The most important of these was the ring of Union spies in Richmond headed by Elizabeth Van Lew. One of the most interesting characters of the Civil War, Van Lew was a member of Richmond society. She was also an ardent Union patriot and abolitionist who was determined to do everything she could to aid the cause of the Union. At first that consisted of providing necessities to Union prisoners in Richmond. That quickly evolved into a system for assisting them in their escape and evasion back to Union lines. At great personal risk she hid many prisoners in her own home. A clever woman, she acquired the perfect cover by giving free room and board to the Provost Marshal of the Confederacy as well as by affecting an eccentric personality. As the Union armies closed on Richmond and Petersburg, she offered her services to provide them with information and succeeded in forwarding an almost constant stream of usually highly accurate information, to the Union armies. Her means were so efficient it was said that along with the information, flowers from her truck farm would arrive for Grant’s breakfast table with the dew still on them. When Grant became president he would reward her by making her postmistress of Richmond for eight years. A considerable portion of Knight’s reminiscences concern fulfilling orders coming directly from Grant through his chief intelligence officer, Colonel Sharpe, to make contact with Van Lew. Knight’s adventures add considerably to the knowledge of Van Lew’s operation in Richmond.

  SCOUTS IN THE CIVIL WAR

  The study of military intelligence in the Civil War invariably leads to the work of the scouts of the Union and Confederate armies. They were the traditional eyes and ears of an army. Today we would refer to them also as collectors of the information that professional analysts would transform into military intelligence.

  Scouts had been with armies since deepest antiquity. Rameses II in his accounts of the battle of Kadesh in 1274 BC recounts the interrogation of captured Hittite scouts. However, the Civil War represented a new stage in the employment of scouts. Luckily for the success of the arms of the Union, Maj. Gen. Joseph Hooker, who had just become commander of the Army of the Potomac in January 1963, had had a taste for the value of military intelligence. Heretofore, generals commanding armies had been their own chief intelligence officers, but by this time Hooker realized that the complexities of modern warfare made it impossible for a general to execute this function by himself in addition to his other duties. Being a transformational man, he hit upon a creative solution.

  His innovation was to put military intelligence into the hands of a professional staff to exercise the entire process of military intelligence. That included the collection of information from all available sources and then subjecting it to a rigorous analytical process which would transform that raw information into what is today called finished intelligence. Surprisingly, this was the first time in military history that this had ever been done. That staff was the Army of the Potomac’s Bureau of Military Intelligence (BMI). The man Hooker chose to build and run it was Colonel George H. Sharpe, commander of the 120th New York Infantry. Hooker could not have picked a more perfect man for the job. Sharpe was one of the best educated men in the country, had trained as a lawyer, and had traveled abroad to gain a cosmopolitan polish and depth. His legal training had developed just those analytical tools vital to the conduct of intelligence analysis. He was also a wily and charming man who could extract cooperation from a stone during interrogation. As shown in the photo above, where he is almost hidden in the back row, he left a very light footprint, the ultimate accolade for an intelligence officer. He lived up to the motto of the general staff officer, as stated by the Prussian Field Marshal Helmut von Moltke, to be more than one seems.
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  The brilliant Col. George H. Sharpe, 120th New York Volunteers, created American all-source military intelligence as Chief of the Bureau of Military Information (BMI) for the Army of the Potomac. He became one of Grant’s favored family of generals. Judson Knight always referred to him with respect. Author’s collection.
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  Maj. Gen. Joseph Hooker, Commander of the Army of the Potomac (front row, seated second from right), founded the first professional military intelligence staff, the Bureau of Military Information, in February 1863 and put it in the hands of Col. George H. Sharpe (last row, standing sixth from left). Timothy O’Sullivan, Library of Congress, LC-DIG-ppmsca-34097.

  In a few months, Sharpe had worked miracles. He had assembled a first-rate team which included a civilian contractor, John C. Babcock, who became the master of the art of order-of-battle. Captain John McEntee, another of Sharpe’s deputies, was responsible for running the scouting operations of the BMI. For the first time, all the strands of intelligence were gathered under the direction of one chief and subjected to rigorous analysis. Sharpe was responsible for document exploitation (military correspondence, letters, newspapers, and so on.); prisoner of war interrogation, debriefing of escaped Union prisoners, refugees, and contrabands; spies, agents, and scouts.10 In addition he closely cooperated with the other collectors of intelligence—the Signal Corps, the Balloon Corps, cavalry, and any other department of the government he deemed fit. Sharpe’s organization was a significant combat multiplier for the Army of the Potomac and contributed decisively to the victory at Gettysburg and in the success of its later campaigns. Significantly, throughout the war the BMI employed barely over two hundred men, and its peak strength in May of 1864 was only sixty-seven (see Appendix).

  For Sharpe, the band of scouts he recruited was the vital element in the creation of military intelligence. Not only did they directly gather information by personal observation and action, but they also worked closely with Sharpe’s network of agents and spies. They were the link by which Sharpe coordinated his agents and spies, and the conduit of their collection of information, and they were highly respected by the senior staffs as well as the rank and file. Col. Horace Porter, one of Grant’s personal staff, alluded to that in his memoir by writing that “[Sharpe] rendered invaluable service in obtaining information regarding the enemy by his employment of scouts….”11 It was a rare kudo, for senior officers were remarkably tight-lipped in discussing the operations of the BMI.

  Sharpe’s scouts also were not adverse to collecting newspapers and other documents. Newspapers were a rich source of order-of-battle information for they frequently contained casualty figures and other information which allowed Sharpe’s small group of analysts to determine with amazing accuracy the organization, strength, and commanders of the Army of Northern Virginia. Sharpe’s correspondence is filled with his careful efforts to coordinate, support, and track his scouts. It reveals the degree of independence of action he permitted them as well as the significant amounts of money with which he entrusted them.

  The scouts were not nameless sources of information for Sharpe’s analytical mill. The commanders of the Army of the Potomac, Joseph Hooker and George G. Meade, as well as Ulysses S. Grant, were personally familiar with many of them. They showed an eager concern in the results of their forays and an anxious interest in their location and return during active operations. Commanders were not above awarding scouts significant cash bonuses for particularly successful missions.

  Confederate scouts were every bit as daring and skillful as Sharpe’s men, but their reports were not subjected to the same professional and systematic analysis. The Army of Northern Virginia had no organization comparable to the BMI. General Lee was his own chief intelligence officer, following the traditional model, and Jeb Stuart was his chief collector of information. The demands of modern war were to prove that such a model no longer fit the times.

  Confederate John Esten Cooke penned a most accurate description of the scouts employed by both the Union and Confederate armies in the Civil War.

  
    The scout proper is “commanding in the field,” with no one near to give him orders. He goes and comes at will, having that about him which all pickets obey. He is “on detached service;” and having procured certain information, reports to the officer who has sent him, without intermediate ceremony. Operating within the enemy’s lines at all times, he depends for success and safety on the quickness of his eye and hand – and his reliance on these is great. He is silent in his movements, low-toned in his speech, abstemious in his habits, and as untiring on the track of the enemy as the Cuban blood-hound on the trail of the fugitive. He rarely sleeps in houses, preferring the woods; and always slumbers with “one eye open,” on the look out for the enemy.12
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  A scout of the Army of the Potomac. The scouts of the BMI numbered between thirty and fifty men at any one time. They were paid according to their proven experience and effectiveness. Library of Congress, LC-USZ62-108336.

  To these attributes should be added the skills of an actor and a bold effrontery in the midst of enemy soldiers and civilians that would allow him to brazen his way out of any situation that would compromise a lesser man. No less important were keen powers of observation, an accurate memory, a hardy constitution that could sleep out in all weathers, and the skill to scrounge his own subsistence. The turnover rate among the scouts indicated that not everyone was up to the test and that Sharpe did not hesitate to dismiss them.

  Sharpe’s scouts included both soldiers and civilians. Most of his scouts though were soldiers, many of whom already had scouting experience in other commands. The 3rd Indiana Cavalry was a particularly effective recruiting source. They had been trained by Lafayette Baker, head of the Secret Service, to support Maj. Gen. Joseph Hooker’s operations along the eastern shore of Maryland and Virginia early in the war. After they captured a Confederate sloop, they were given the nickname of Hooker’s Horse Marines.

  Many of the men hired were civilians who would be considered contractors today. The soldiers among the scouts apparently continued to receive their normal soldier’s pay in addition to the special pay. That pay, for soldiers and civilians, ranged from fifty cents to four dollars a day for every day of the month for scouts. The specific rate for each man depended upon both experience and proven ability. The upper and lower rates worked out to monthly totals of fifteen dollars to $120 a month, a considerable improvement over the private’s thirteen dollars a month. The rate of four dollars a day was roughly equivalent to the pay of a first lieutenant ($115.50 a month), and was awarded to very few men. Most of the scouts were paid at two dollars to three dollars a day.
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  Governor’s Island in New York Harbor with Fort Columbia on the lower part of the island, where Judson Knight served in the garrison during the Mexican War. Library of Congress, LC-USZ62-135430.

  Scouting, as Cooke noted, required men with special abilities that were not easy to find. The risk a Union scout took was extraordinary because he often wore either civilian clothes or Confederate uniforms while on operations. Capture so dressed would earn him a swift hanging by the laws of war. Officers, as gentlemen, did not engage in that sort of thing.

  An exception to the top scout rate of four dollars was found with John C. Babcock who was listed among the scouts for pay purposes but did not serve as a scout. He was a civilian who served as the order-of-battle analyst for the BMI and was paid at the rate of $7.50 a day ($225 a month), which was more than the pay of a full colonel ($212 a month), an indication of how valuable he was considered.

  In addition to the scouts, the BMI employed guides, local men who had immediate knowledge of a particular area and were employed only on an as-needed basis. Many of these men were loyalist civilians such as the McGees and Skinkers of Northern Virginia or runaway slaves or contrabands. In addition to the scouts and guides, the BMI was allowed a support staff of clerks, teamsters, and cooks. Most of these men were black. However, a few of the men listed as guides were also identified as black.

  The BMI scouts were a diverse group by physical type, age, and occupation. Most were very young—in their early twenties; however, the two men who would become chiefs of scouts, Cline and Knight, were in their thirties with more maturity and experience. Their occupations ranged from clerk to boatman to plasterer and to machinist, in Knight’s case. What unified them was an independence of character, a cool boldness, a taste for danger, and a good dash of the actor, for they spent much time passing themselves off as Confederates, with remarkable success. Sharpe was to prove a shrewd judge of these qualities, and his careful selection of just the right men would be vital to the success of the BMI.

  Constant exposure to the elements in all weather and in all seasons, when most troops were in winter quarters or camp, required the hardiest of men as well. Sharpe mentioned the effect of such exposure in a letter to Maj. Gen. Hancock on May 2, 1864. “We expect to be able to send you two good men as guides. One of them may have to ride in an ambulance having lost part of one of his feet while lying within the enemy’s lines during the late snow-storm.”13 Many scouts would suffer its effects decades later in ill-health directly attributed to such exposure, as shown in their applications for pensions.

  One of the first scouts Sharpe engaged was the redoubtable fair-haired Sgt. Milton Cline of the 3rd Indiana Cavalry. It was no wonder that Sharpe quickly made him Chief Scout for the Army of the Potomac. He set a high example for the rest of the scouts. Cline was coolness personified as he again and again masqueraded as a Confederate cavalry sergeant. His efforts provided the intelligence that allowed Sharpe to offer Lee’s head on a silver platter to Hooker in the plan for the Chancellorsville Campaign. The fact that Hooker failed was not the fault of the intelligence Sharpe provided him. It was Cline’s efforts that led to the capture of vital information in the Gettysburg Campaign that contributed to the decision by General Meade to fight it out after the second day of the battle. Cline was mustered out with the rest of his regiment in August 1864 during the Siege of Petersburg. Judson Knight would be a worthy replacement.

  JUDSON KNIGHT

  Judson Knight was born in the small town of Boonville, Oneida County, New York, on April 26, 1829. In 1847, as the Mexican War broke out, he wrote, “I was living at Poland, Herkimer County, NY, when I first entered the service—as not working for anyone but had been at school at Little Falls, NY. I boarded myself.” He enlisted under the name John King on November 13, 1847 and served on garrison duty at Ft. Columbia on Governor’s Island in New York Harbor. The only event of that service was the bout of smallpox that he contracted that winter from which he fully recovered. It was an all-too-common experience in this war and the coming Civil War, in which country boys little exposed to communicable diseases easily came down with them once they joined the army. He was lucky to have survived smallpox. It and other communicable diseases would kill more men in the coming Civil War than died from wounds. His only lasting memento of his service were the smallpox scars on his face. He was discharged on June 30, 1848.14
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  April 1865 payroll for the Bureau of Military Information in which Lt. Gen. U.S. Grant orders a special service payment to Judson Knight of $2,500. A payment of $6,000 was made in June. Courtesy, National Archives, RG 92, Entry 238, File 0447 (1865), Box 268.

  He returned to Poland in New York and took up the trade of machinist. About 1855 he moved to Newark, New Jersey, where he was self-employed in that skill. He married Mabel M. Nicholson in Trenton, New York, on October 16, 1858. When the Civil War broke out, he enlisted on May 26, 1861, in H Co., 2nd New Jersey Infantry. He recalled that he was given no medical examination. It would have been evident he was a prime recruit in the best of health. He was a powerfully-built man at six feet and a quarter inch, sandy-haired, with hazel eyes, and a fair complexion badly marked from smallpox.15

  The regiment was mustered in at Camp Olden at Trenton where Knight, who apparently had made an impression, was quickly promoted to corporal and then to sergeant on June 3rd. The regiment left for Washington, D.C., on June 28th and was combined with other state regiments into the Jersey Brigade. The regiment was in reserve at the battle of First Bull Run on July 21st. The Jersey Brigade became known as Kearny’s Brigade after its new commander, the legendary Indian fighter, Brig. Gen. Phillip Kearny, who trained it into a superb fighting formation. Knight was officially detailed as a scout at Kearny’s headquarters on August 20th. He had already been scouting for the regiment, evidently successfully enough to be transferred to work directly for Kearny.16 He occupied a room in Kearny’s headquarters until the winter set in.

  With Kearny now its division commander, the brigade moved to the Peninsula and fought in the Seven Days battles before Richmond (June 25th to July 1, 1862), to include the engagements at Gaines Mill, Garnett’s Farm, Golding’s, Charles City Cross Roads, Glendale, and Malvern Hill. Knight was seeing a great deal of combat under one of the finest commanders in the Union Army.

  He served as a scout during the battle of Second Bull Run on August 30th. The next day at the battle of Chantilly, Brig. Gen. Kearny was killed. Knight then took part in the Antietam Campaign where his Division saw action at the battles of Crampton’s Gap, South Mountain, and Antietam itself. He remained at Sharpsburg, Maryland, with his division after the battle, where he learned that his wife had died on September 26th. Shortly thereafter he entered the military hospital in Hampton, Virginia, for a serious illness.17

  He remained there for two months suffering from scorfulosis (swelling of the lymph gland of the neck) and ulceration of the glands of the neck. On December 1st for some unknown reason his company muster roll notes that he was “reduced to [the] ranks from Sergeant.” His illness proved serious enough to earn him a discharge from the army on the last day of 1862 .18

  In the spring he was working for Baker’s Secret Service (known officially as the War Department’s National Detective Police) in Fairfax County, Virginia. Scouting apparently had been an exciting experience for Knight. Scouts were men apart from the rest of the army, and they wanted it that way. If it were commonly known a man was a scout, it would be all too easy to compromise him. The small scouting community was then a very much closed group whose members were known to each other. Perhaps from that group Knight heard of the new Bureau of Military Information that had been just established in the Army of the Potomac in February 1863. As the organization began to grow, Sharpe was sifting the army for good scouts and began assembling an excellent team.

  Knight related that he came to army headquarters in April and presented testimonials of his service with the late General Kearny that were evidently impressive enough for Sharpe to later write, “He was immediately engaged by me to serve with us.” His name first appeared on the BMI’s October 1864 payroll; however, just as he said, he started working for Sharpe in early April of 1863, despite the evidence of the payroll. On April 13, 1863, the assistant adjutant of a cavalry division requested the officer commanding the pickets to “pass within your lines two scouts viz: William Blake and Judson Knight; they both are furnished with passes from Headquarters …”19 Also, Maj. Gen. Daniel Butterfield, who served as Hooker’s chief of staff, wrote a testimonial for Sharpe more than twenty-five years later in support of his request for a pension. Maj. Gen. George G. Meade, who replaced Hooker as commander of the army, replaced Butterfield with Brig. Gen. A. A. Humphreys shortly after the battle of Gettysburg in July 1863. Knight would come to enjoy, according to Sharpe, an “enviable reputation as a man to whom a bold enterprise could be entrusted without endangering the confidence of his superior officers.”20

  Unlike most of the rest of the scouts, Knight was a civilian employee or, as could be said today, a contractor. Despite that civilian status, he would be referred to as Sergeant Knight both during and after the war. He first shows up on the payroll of the BMI in October 1863 where he is immediately shown as being paid the near top rate of three dollars a day.21 The men he spoke highly of were Dan Plew, Dan Cole, Martin Hogan, Pat McEneany, and the Carneys—Anson, Edward, and Philip, almost all veterans of the 1st and 3rd Indiana and 5th U.S. Cavalry Regiments.22 Their shadowy exploits appear here and there in the massive compilation of the War of the Rebellion: The Official Records of the Union and Confederate Armies, often referred to as the Official Records or the OR.

  Apparently Knight was held in high regard by other scouts. Maj. Gen. Philip Sheridan’s chief scout, William Landegon, remarked that Knight was a cool and accomplished liar in the performance of his duties in dealing with southern civilians and possessed the other higher qualities of the scout as well.23

  Knight’s descriptions of Colonel Sharpe are unfailingly positive. Sharpe had a lot invested in Knight, and the man delivered, but Knight’s comments on the chief of the BMI reflect a solid personal as well as professional relationship. The one man of whom Knight held a negative opinion was Brig. Gen. Marsena R. Patrick (1811–1888), Provost Marshal General of the Army of the Potomac. The BMI fell under Patrick’s Provost Marshal General’s department, and Sharpe served as his deputy. No more unconventional group than the scouts could be found in the army and were frequently under Patrick’s demanding eye. A devout man, Patrick did everything in his power to shield civilians from the depredations of war. However, he was an unbending and strict disciplinarian whose harsh manner engendered no affection from the troops, of which Knight’s recollections are an accurate reflection.24

  Knight’s narrative begins in the winter of 1863–1864 with cold and miserable duty in the “Debatable Land” bordering the Rappahannock and Rapidan Rivers. There he worked with Sharpe’s Unionist agents in the vicinity, such as Isaac Silver, referred to at army headquarters as “the old man.”25 Silver was one of Sharpe’s most valuable agents, able to travel easily to nearby Confederate camps and railroad stations and obtain highly accurate information from a number of his own contacts. Scouts regularly visited his home to bring back that information. His home also became the safe house from which scouts set out on their missions or rested on their return.

  The cold waters of these two rivers had to be crossed again and again which would lead to the rheumatism that would torment Knight’s last years. Yet as unglamorous and rigorous as it was, it was a vital element in Sharpe’s constant effort to collect intelligence on the Army of Northern Virginia in the season when the weather shut down campaigning and confined most of both armies to their camps.

  Knight then relates the adventures of his two comrades, Wood Dodd and Frank McCord, in their encounters with and escape from the South’s two most notorious partisan commanders in Northern Virginia, Col. John Singleton Mosby and Maj. Harry Gilmor, just before the Overland Campaign of 1864. With this account are other near-death experiences of scouts John Landegon and Anson Carney. That campaign would see Knight roaming the jagged edges of the endless battlefields between Wilderness and the crossing of the Chickahominy River on the army’s way to Petersburg. He would recall how he and a few other scouts arrived at the defenses of that city to find them practically empty and ready to fall at the push of only a hundred aggressive men. Yet, the commanders that Grant had expected to do just that were still haunted by the Cold Harbor assault and hesitated just long enough for Lee’s hard-breathing veterans to fill the trenches.

  The next month Knight was given the mission that would lead to his most important contribution in the war: to connect Sharpe with Elizabeth Van Lew, the Union patriot who had held the loyal population of Richmond together. By coincidence, Knight had already met John Van Lew, her brother, who had escaped through the lines to avoid Confederate conscription and had been questioned by the BMI which is where Knight encountered him. Despite his best efforts, neither patriotism nor money would induce John Van Lew to join the Union Army. He did offer some valuable parting advice to Knight. “I will tell you something that may be of value to you. If you can ever get into communication with my mother or sister, they are in a position where they might furnish you with valuable information. Their names are both Elizabeth N. Van Lew.” For Knight it would be something of a prophecy.26

  Elizabeth Van Lew was eager to do more and had communicated this to Maj. Gen. Butler, commanding the nearby Army of the James in early 1864. This information was passed on to Sharpe. At the same time, the failure to track Confederate Lt. Gen. Jubal Early’s drive on Washington convinced Grant that he needed a major source of intelligence from within Richmond itself. He directed Sharpe to find it. Sharpe then moved his operation and a picked group of scouts to Grant’s headquarters at City Point. It was mid-July.

  Sharpe could have given the mission to Sergeant Cline, but he knew that the chief scout was due to be mustered out the following month. Sharpe already had his eye on Knight as Cline’s replacement. In August 1864, Sergeant Cline was duly mustered out of the service with his regiment. Sharpe immediately chose Knight to replace him, and by the end of September he was the only scout receiving four dollars a day.27 It was a transitional time for the scouts of the BMI; most of the experienced soldier scouts were mustered out of the army at this time with their regiments because their three-year terms of enlistment had expired.

  Even before Cline left, Sharpe turned to Knight and gave him the mission as soon as he and his scouts had moved into a building at City Point. Knight took advantage of the Union Navy’s control of the James River to ferry him across to Confederate controlled territory around Richmond. Yet once across the river, time and time again Knight was unable to penetrate the Confederate lines and was turned back. Though, like a dog worrying a bone, he persevered and finally succeeded in making contact with Van Lew, establishing a regular courier system for the transmission of intelligence collection priorities from Sharpe and Van Lew’s responses. It was after this that Sharpe’s intelligence reports began making numerous cryptic references to Union agents in Richmond. No agent was ever mentioned by name, though her name became known to a select few in the BMI and to Meade, Grant, and a few of their senior staff. Knight was a frequent visitor to Van Lew and must have developed a good relationship for he made a point of calling on her twenty years after the war when visiting Richmond.

  They made a good team that provided a steady flow of largely accurate and especially timely information to Sharpe, which was the pivot upon which Grant was able to hold Lee in check and gradually strangle the Confederate capital. It has been reported that the channels of information were so quick that flowers cut in the morning on Van Lew’s truck farm would be on Grant’s breakfast table. Yet, this smoothly running espionage system would come close to ruin due to a double-agent.

  In February Knight visited Van Lew and explained, “I’m directed to tell you that there will be an Englishman sent through the lines, whose duty it will be to oblige and bring you information to send through.” The agent was an Englishman named Pole, a mechanic who would find employment as a skilled machinist and engineer by posing as a southern sympathizer. Van Lew was instantly suspicious and rightly so. The day after Pole arrived in the city he betrayed a number of Union agents within the city. Pole later explained that he had been the “chosen emissary” of Mason and Slidell, the Confederate emissaries to Britain and France. He had come to the United States and joined the Army hoping to get close enough to desert. When that proved impossible, he apparently sold himself to Sharpe at the BMI as a useful agent. If so, it was one of Sharpe’s few blunders.28 Nevertheless, despite the arrest of a number of Van Lew’s ring, her operation was not fundamentally compromised and continued with Knight’s participation to ably support Sharpe and Grant.

  Knight’s successes were well-enough thought of that he was awarded for special services with cash grants of $300 in December 1864, $520 in January 1965, and $393.58 in February, a total of $1,213 or a little less than the yearly pay of a first lieutenant ($1,386). His monthly pay was already equivalent to a first lieutenant ($1,480). This would all be small change. The April 1865 payroll shows him receiving an astounding $6,000! That was more than the pay of a major general ($5,489). Only Grant, as the Army’s only lieutenant general, made more ($9,776). The BMI payrolls identify only two other men to receive cash grants. They were Ebenezer Halleck and Alexander Myers (one of Van Lew’s Richmond couriers), both of whom were awarded $500.29

  [image: Image]

  Members of the Ku Klux Klan captured by Treasury agents in 1871, just the sort of work Judson Knight was doing after the Civil War. Harper’s Weekly, January 1872. Author’s Collection.

  After his discharge in April of 1865 following Lee’s surrender at Appomattox and the disbanding of the BMI, Knight went to Richmond with the remnants of the staff where he was paid off in June. At the direction of Grant himself, he was awarded another $2,500 for special services. That was a year’s pay for a full colonel ($2,544), exactly what Sharpe was making. Given that Grant awarded at the same time $2,000 for Elizabeth Van Lew, the incomparable spy mistress of Richmond, it was an extraordinary recognition of his achievements. The awards were well-paired, for Grant was making it clear that without Knight’s efforts to establish and maintain contact with Van Lew, her irreplaceable contributions would have never happened.30

  Apparently, Knight lingered in the South to continue to work for the government in a clandestine police role. He stated in an 1899 deposition that he then went back to Poland, New York, for a year or so, and returned to Newark for a short time. He then wrote that after leaving Newark, “I was in the Secret Service—looking after Ku Klux in Georgia.” Interestingly, President Grant’s attorney general ordered the new head of the Secret Service, Hiram Whitley, in 1871 to dispatch eight operatives to six former Confederate states, to include Georgia, to investigate the activities of the Ku Klux Klan. After this Knight then moved to New York City for a number of years. By then he had given up on “the iron business” and made plaster-of-paris models for bonnets for ladies and little girls, a strange line of work for a man who had engaged in such adventures during the war. Like so many men who have come back to the quiet of civilian life from the adrenaline rush of war, he may have found the tranquil days of peace something of a letdown.31

  Apparently, he was not one to keep his family in touch. In early 1867, his worried brother wrote Major General Meade asking about his whereabouts. He wrote that the family had had no communication from him since 1862. Meade forwarded the request through channels to Sharpe, who had kept track of most of the men in the BMI. In his reply he was able to state that Knight was paid off in the spring of 1865 at the end of the war and that he had “received some appointment under a treasury agency in Virginia. I heard of him somewhere in southwestern Virginia during the last year, and I think he is there yet, tho’ I am unable to recall the name of the place.” He then suggested a number of distinguished men in Richmond who would have knowledge of him as would “any prominent authorities in Richmond to all of whom he is well known.” Sharpe may have been toning down Knight’s activities for public consumption; the “treasury agency” surely was the new incarnation of the Secret Service with which he had worked after his initial discharge at the end of 1862 and before he joined Sharpe and the BMI.32

  From New York City he moved to Washington in 1885 for about five years and then moved to Le Roy, Bradford County, Pennsylvania, for a year before moving back to Washington for good, where from 1890 to 1894 he wrote his reminiscences for The National Tribune. Ironically, these articles of his personal experiences as a scout in the BMI, which form the substance of this book, are the only extensive account by any surviving member of that organization. Sharpe’s son had encouraged his father to come stay with him in Washington while he wrote his memoirs of the war. Unfortunately, Sharpe died shortly thereafter in January 1900.

  Within twenty years of the end of the war, Knight’s health began to fail due to injuries and ailments incurred during the war, especially during the cold and wet times in the field in the spring of 1864. In Washington he was cared for in his illness by his sister, Mrs. Julia Neary. In 1887 he was awarded a pension of eight dollars a month for his service in the Mexican War. His appeals for a pension for his Civil War service about that time led to the support of a number of the senior men he had served in the war. They included Major Generals Sharpe, Daniel Butterfield, Winfield Scott Hancock, and William S. Rosecrans. Their support was necessary to get Congress to pass a special piece of legislation on his behalf to provide a pension because as a civilian contractor he did not fall under the existing Civil War pension law.

  Sharpe’s hearty testimonial added the weight that pushed the bill through and was printed by both pension committees reporting the bill.

  
    During a considerable part of the time that I served on the general staff of the Army of the Potomac, and afterwards on the general staff of the armies operating against Richmond, in Virginia, Judson Knight was employed at these headquarters as a scout. He enjoyed an enviable reputation as a man to whom a bold enterprise could be intrusted without endangering the confidence of his superior officers. At times he rendered services that received signal praise of the major-general [Meade] commanding the Army of the Potomac and the lieutenant-general [Grant] commanding the armies operating against Richmond.

    When he came to the headquarters he brought high testimonials of his service with the late General Phil. Kearny. He was immediately engaged by me to serve with us. In 1864 he was made chief of scouts of the Army of the Potomac, and in that capacity, and until the close of the war, rendered the most efficient service. Throughout his service his reports were always relied on, and I take pleasure in saying he is a man who deserves well of his country. He is now crippled from the effects of these services, and it affords me pleasure to make this testimonial in behalf of one who was always faithful and gallant in the performance of his duty.33

  

  Maj. Gen. Rosecran’s letter to the Secretary of War in support of Knight’s claim was equally fulsome.

  
    Captain Judson Knight’s services in the late war laid the foundation of his present grave disability; but he has hitherto forborne to ask a pension. After reading the high testimonials he has of service as scout and chief of scouts, and knowing the rare combination of courage, intelligence, and fidelity demanded in that service, I feel a warm interest in his case, and shall introduce a bill for pensioning him. I unite with Senator Sewall in asking you to interest yourself in securing him some suitable employment by which he can support himself until he gets legal relief.34

  

  Also included was a letter to Knight from Hancock which stated, “I can state with pleasure that I knew you in the Army as one of the chiefs of scouts, and recall on one occasion when you came to me on duty. My remembrance of you is that you were a meritorious person and performed good service.”35

  The bill was so heavily endorsed that it sailed right through the Senate on March 31 and the House on April 3, 1888, even though as the committee reports stated, “The pension laws do not cover this case, but it is evident that he had earned a pension and needs it.” The bill was passed on July 9 and read:

  
    Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States in Congress assembled, That the Secretary of the Interior be, and he is hereby authorized and directed to place on the pension-roll the name of Judson Knight, late chief of scouts at headquarters of the armies operating against Richmond, subject to the provisions and limitations of the pension laws, as though he had been regularly mustered into the United States Army, with the rank of captain of volunteers.36

  

  Knight’s health continued to worsen, and in 1899 he petitioned for an increase in his pension, only to be overwhelmed by the bureaucracy in a story that many of the wounded from the Iraq and Afghan wars today can appreciate. His attorney wrote in an appeal in 1902:

  
    It should not be lost sight of that the reports of the several boards of examining surgeons are in as much uncertainty and confusion, and even the same report contains contradictions of what is stated before; surely there is as wide a difference as in the medical certificates of the physicians who have testified in the claimants behalf. When the doctors disagree who then is to say? This poor claimant has been examined until the doctors are all at sea, and we are no nearer the right of the matter. There must be a way out.37

  

  For Knight there was no way out. The Bureau of Pensions simply waited him out. His last appeal was overcome by his death (1902) and simply stamped “dead.”38
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